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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 

1. Whether exculpatory evidence that is inadmissible 
can be material under Brady v. Maryland, 373 
U.S. 83 (1963). 

2. Whether a court evaluating the materiality of sup-
pressed evidence under Brady against a confession 
should take into account a post-trial judicial 
finding that the defendant was an intellectually 
disabled child.  
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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI 

Corey Dewayne Williams respectfully petitions 
this Court for a writ of certiorari to review the judg-
ment of the Supreme Court of Louisiana in this case.  

OPINION AND ORDER BELOW 

The order of the Supreme Court of Louisiana deny-
ing Petitioner’s writ application (Pet.App. 1a) is 
reported at 228 So.3d 1233.  The opinion of the Court 
of Appeal of Louisiana for the Second Circuit 
(Pet.App. 2a-3a) is unpublished. The opinions of the 
District Court for Caddo Parish (Pet.App. 4a-14a, 15a-
21a) are unpublished. 

JURISDICTION 

The judgment of the Supreme Court of Louisiana 
was entered on October 27, 2017. On January 9, 2018, 
Justice Alito granted an extension of time to file a 
petition for certiorari to February 23, 2018. On 
February 12, 2018, Justice Alito granted a further 
extension to March 26, 2018. This Court has juris-
diction under 28 U.S.C. § 1257(a). 

CONSTITUTIONAL  
PROVISIONS INVOLVED 

The Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitu-
tion provides that “No State shall . . . deprive any 
person of life, liberty, or property, without due process 
of law.” 

 

  



2 

 

INTRODUCTION 

In January of 1998, Petitioner Corey Dewayne 
Williams was an intellectually disabled 16-year-old 
child. He still sucked his thumb, urinated himself on 
an ordinary basis, and regularly ate dirt and paper. 
Throughout his childhood, he was hospitalized for 
extreme lead poisoning, institutionalized multiple 
times, and placed in special education. In his com-
munity, he “was known to be a ‘duck’ or what one 
might refer to as a ‘chump,’” who was willing to take 
the blame for things he did not do.  

Just three weeks past his 16th birthday, Corey was 
standing in front of a friend’s house when shots were 
fired, killing a man who had been delivering pizza. 
Following the shooting, eyewitnesses saw several 
older men—and not Corey—steal money and pizza 
from the man who had been shot. When the police 
interrogated those men, they implicated Corey as the 
shooter. Upon being arrested and questioned through 
the night, Corey gave the police a confession. Obli-
vious to the significance of what he had just said, 
Corey told the officers he was “ready to go home and 
lay down.” Based chiefly upon that confession and 
using one of the older men as its sole eyewitness at 
trial, the State convicted Corey of first-degree murder.  

The record on postconviction reveals that Corey’s 
conviction followed from a bald violation of Brady v. 
Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), that breaches the basic 
notion that guilt should be decided in a courtroom, not 
by the prosecution itself. It is undisputed that, at 
Corey’s trial, the State suppressed a series of recorded 
statements from the night of the murder and shortly 
thereafter. The prosecution instead provided state-
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created “summaries” that it considered to be sufficient 
for Corey’s defense.  

This practice, while not uncommon in Louisiana, 
is, happily, out of step with the way that prosecutors 
in the rest of this country understand their consti-
tutional obligations under Brady. This case demon-
strates why. Aside from hamstringing the defense’s 
ability to prepare for trial and examine witnesses 
using their actual statements to police on the night of 
the murder, the recorded statements (finally obtained 
on postconviction) show that the State’s summaries 
omitted, and even altered, numerous statements by 
the witnesses. The information withheld from the 
defense is staggering. It included:  

1. A witness’s statement on the night of the 
murder that, based on what he saw imme-
diately following the shooting, it “don’t make 
any sense” to conclude that Corey committed 
the murder. The witness stated that, based on 
his observations, his own brother and the 
State’s eyewitness at trial “had to” have been 
the ones who committed the murder. The 
summary provided to the defense at trial 
reported just the opposite: that this witness 
“thought that Corey shot the man.”; 

2. A witness’s statement on the night of the 
murder that he had seen the State’s sole 
eyewitness with the murder weapon earlier in 
the day (contradicting the eyewitness’s trial 
testimony that he was an innocent observer 
who had never held a gun);  
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3. Statements from multiple witnesses that they 
had been threatened to change their stories by 
the older men;  

4. Statements by the investigating police officers 
indicating that, up until they obtained Corey’s 
confession, they believed the older men had 
conspired to blame Corey for the murder.   

The State conceded that it did not turn over the above 
witness statements.  

The court below held that the State’s suppression 
of the statements did not violate Brady because they 
were not material. It relied principally on two 
grounds. First, the court concluded that a witness’s 
perception that Corey could not have committed the 
crime and police officers’ suspicion that others had 
conspired against Corey were not material because 
“theories, opinions or beliefs are not admissible 
evidence.” Pet.App. 12a. As discussed herein, the 
application of Brady’s materiality prong to 
inadmissible evidence is the subject of a conflict of 
authority acknowledged by innumerable courts and 
commentators.  

Second, the court declined to take into account the 
post-trial judicial determination that Corey was an 
intellectually disabled 16-year-old when assessing the 
weight that should be afforded to his confession, 
repeating: “Corey Williams confessed to the murder. 
He admitted his guilt.” Pet.App. 12a. The court 
refused to even consider the prevalence of false 
confessions among intellectually disabled persons, 
stating “I just don’t see how it’s relevant.” Writ-App. 
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2:213.1 That reasoning contradicts this Court’s 
direction that the materiality of suppressed evidence 
“must be evaluated in the context of the entire record,” 
United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 112 (1976); this 
Court’s own consideration of post-trial evidence in 
assessing materiality, e.g., Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 
419, 448 (1995); and this Court’s repeated recognition 
that the reduced capacity of intellectually disabled 
persons makes them “more likely to give false 
confessions,” Hall v. Florida, 134 S. Ct. 1986, 1988 
(2014). The refusal to consider the post-trial deter-
mination that Corey is intellectually disabled is in 
square conflict with one federal court of appeal, and 
reflects a broader conflict as to whether post-trial 
facts should be considered in Brady’s materiality 
inquiry.  

The resolution of these questions carries special 
importance in this case. The position of Louisiana 
prosecutors throughout these proceedings—and the 
very practice of providing state-created summaries 
instead of actual witness statements—reflects the 
State’s longstanding position that it is entitled to 
withhold exculpatory evidence based upon its own 
pretrial assessment that the evidence would not alter 
the outcome at trial. See Transcript of Oral Argument 
at 29-32, 37-38, 42-45, 48-53, Smith v. Cain, 565 U.S. 
73 (2012) (No. 10-8145) (virtually every Justice of this 
Court expressing dismay at Louisiana’s adherence to 
this position). On this understanding of Brady, once 
the State obtains a confession, it has been able to 
rationalize the suppression of powerful exculpatory 
                                                 
1 “Writ-App. X:Y” refers to volume X, page Y of the appendix filed 
with the Louisiana Supreme Court. “R.” refers to the state trial 
record.  
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evidence—including witness statements from the 
night of a murder whose truth would absolve the 
defendant of guilt and implicate the State’s eye-
witness at trial. Left unaddressed, this creates an 
intolerable risk of wrongful conviction that peaks in 
the case of children and intellectually disabled per-
sons. Corey was both.  

The Court should grant certiorari.  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. The Murder And Corey’s Confession. 

On the night of January 4, 1998, Corey, just three 
weeks past his 16th birthday, was standing in front of 
a friend’s house, where a group of older men gathered, 
including Chris Moore (who went by the nickname 
“Rapist”) and Nathan Logan.2 While the group was 
there, a man named Jarvis Griffin pulled up to deliver 
a pizza. After making the delivery and returning to 
his car, Mr. Griffin was shot and killed with .25 caliber 
gun.  

Following the shooting, witnesses saw Corey run 
to his grandmother’s house, by himself, with nothing 
in his hands. Nathan Logan’s brother, Gabriel Logan, 
ran to the delivery car and robbed the victim of his 
money and pizzas. Chris Moore, Nathan Logan, 
Gabriel Logan, and another friend then fled the scene 
and split the proceeds of the robbery and hid the .25 
caliber murder weapon in an alley near the Logans’ 
house.  

                                                 
2 The account of the crime and testimony recited herein is taken 
from the Supreme Court of Louisiana’s decision on direct appeal, 
State v. Williams, 831 So. 2d 835 (La. 2002), or undisputed.  
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When detectives arrived on the scene, the older 
men implicated Corey as the shooter. Nathan Logan 
directed the police to the .25 caliber gun that he, his 
brother, and Chris Moore had hidden in the alley near 
his house.  

The police found Corey at his grandmother’s 
house, hiding under a sheet on the couch. When he 
was brought to the station for questioning, Corey told 
the police that he saw Gabriel Logan shoot the pizza 
man while a man (later identified as Chris “Rapist” 
Moore) stood next to him. Corey told the police that 
when the men asked him to help rob the pizza man, 
he ran home. Corey reported that one of the other men 
called him on the phone that night and said he would 
kill Corey if he told anyone what happened. “They 
trying to get me to go to jail for they charge,” he said. 
Writ-App. 2:248-49. 

At 8:30 a.m., after being questioned through the 
night, Corey changed his story and told the officers 
that he was the person who shot the pizza man. His 
confession was brief, devoid of corroborating details. 
Details that Corey recounted during his confession, 
such as that Gabriel Logan beat him up after the 
shooting, were confirmed to be inconsistent with 
reality by the investigating officers. When the police 
asked Corey how much money he got from the crime, 
Corey responded: “was there money involved with 
this?” Writ-App. 2:256; R. 2459-60. Having just 
assumed responsibility for a homicide, Corey told the 
officers, “I’m tired. I’m ready to go home and lay 
down.” Writ-App. 2:263.   

There was no physical evidence linking Corey to 
the crime. The only fingerprints on the gun belonged 
to Nathan Logan. The victim’s blood was found on 
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Gabriel Logan’s clothing. And the victim’s money and 
pizzas were found in a dumpster, also near the 
Logans’ house. 

Following Corey’s confession, police located and 
conducted an unrecorded interview with Chris Moore. 
Mr. Moore denied any involvement in the homicide, 
and claimed that he observed Corey shoot the victim. 
Mr. Moore would serve as the State’s sole eyewitness 
to the shooting. 

II. The State’s Case At Trial. 

The State charged Corey with first-degree murder. 

Prior to trial, defense counsel made numerous 
requests to obtain all witness interviews recorded by 
the State. The State refused, asserting that providing 
police reports with “summaries” of interviews satis-
fied its obligations under Brady. The State repre-
sented that “[t]he content of those statements are very 
clearly included in the Police reports provided to 
Defense Counsel.” Writ-App. 2:266-67. 

The State’s case against Corey was based primar-
ily on Corey’s confession and the eyewitness testi-
mony of Chris “Rapist” Moore. Mr. Moore claimed that 
he was innocently standing out on the street when he 
saw Corey shoot Jarvis Griffin. Mr. Moore denied that 
he participated in either the shooting or the robbery, 
explaining that he “[d]idn’t have a gun” and “w[asn’t] 
carrying a gun back then.” Indeed, he denied that he 
had ever carried “any type of gun, [or] firearm.”  R. 
2592-93.3 

                                                 
3 The State supplemented Mr. Moore’s testimony with the testi-
mony of Nathan Logan and Calandria Iverson. Mr. Logan 
testified that, after the shooting, he went with his brother, 
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Defense counsel argued to the jury that Corey had 
falsely confessed and the crime had been committed 
by the other men, including Mr. Moore. See R. 2771, 
2774 (“Do you think that we saw the real murderer on 
the witness stand at this trial? . . . Could Chris Moore 
be the real murderer in this case? . . . Is it conceivable 
that Chris Moore, Nathan Logan, and maybe even 
Gabriel Logan got together and tried to pin the 
murder on [Corey Williams]?”). The State mocked the 
defense as “the biggest set of circumstances concern-
ing a conspiracy since John Kennedy was killed in 
1963.” R. 2785. 

The jury found Corey guilty of first-degree murder 
and sentenced him to death.  

III. The Post-Trial Judicial Finding That Peti-
tioner Is Intellectually Disabled. 

While Corey’s case was on direct appeal, this Court 
recognized in Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), 
that the execution of intellectually disabled persons 
constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. The 
Supreme Court of Louisiana thereafter remanded for 
a determination of whether Corey was intellectually 
disabled. See State v. Williams, 831 So. 2d 835, 861 
(La. 2002).  

                                                 
Gabriel, and their friend Patrick Anthony to Corey’s house, 
retrieved the murder weapon, and hid it near the Logan’s house. 
R. 2622-23. Ms. Iverson testified that when the pizza man arriv-
ed at her house, she saw Gabriel Logan hand Corey a gun, but 
that the gun did not look like the same gun that police later 
identified as the murder weapon. R. 2553. Ms. Iverson testified 
that when she heard shots fired, she ran into the street and saw 
Gabriel Logan; she did not see Corey. R. 2542, 2544. 
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Upon reviewing a plethora of school and institu-
tional records, and hearing testimony from numerous 
medical experts, the district court found the evidence 
“consistent and compelling” that Corey had an IQ 
between 65 and 69. Pet.App. 27a.  

The court also found severe adaptive deficits. It 
credited testing that placed Corey in “less than the 1st 
percentile.” Pet.App. 29a. Corey has a consistent 
drool, symptomatic of severe intellectual disability. 
Pet.App. 30a n.6. He “never fully mastered toileting” 
and, into his teenage years, “frequently urinated on 
himself.” Pet.App. 30a-31a & n.6. Corey “sucked his 
thumb until incarcerated.” Pet.App. 31a. Corey 
“regularly ate dirt, paper, [and] lead paint chips.” Id.  
The court credited an expert who described Corey as 
having suffered “the most extreme case of lead 
poisoning that I have ever seen.” Pet.App. 33a.  

The court specifically credited evidence that 
Corey’s intellectual disability had caused him to take 
the blame for the misconduct of others. The court 
described a “credible and consistent history from a 
close family member” who explained that Corey was 
known to be “a ‘duck’ or what one might refer to as a 
‘chump.’” Pet.App. 31a. The witness stated that Corey 
had “‘taken the rap’ for him on a prior charge.” Id. It 
was also well known in the community that Corey was 
“dumb” and would take the blame for others. Id. Corey 
was known to act as “‘a puppet’ that would uncritically 
do what others said.” Id.  

IV. Post-Conviction Proceedings. 

A. The Suppressed Witness Statements.  

On postconviction, counsel obtained the recorded 
witness interviews the prosecution withheld at trial, 
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which contained numerous exculpatory statements 
that had been omitted (and even altered) in the 
summaries provided to the defense at trial. The 
omitted information included statements from wit-
nesses on the night of the murder that Corey could not 
have committed the crime based upon observations 
immediately after the shooting; that the State’s sole 
eyewitness at trial had been seen with the murder 
weapon before the shooting; that the older men had 
threatened several people to change their stories; and 
that, prior to obtaining Corey’s confession, the police 
had suspected that the older men were conspiring to 
blame Corey. 

1. Witness’s opinion that, based on what he 
saw immediately following the shooting, it 
“don’t make any sense” to say that Corey 
committed the murder and that it “had to” have 
been committed by the witness’s brother or the 
State’s eyewitness. 

In one of the suppressed recordings, police inter-
viewed Nathan Logan on the night of the murder. In 
that recording, Nathan Logan is asked about what he 
witnessed earlier that night. He states that he had 
just come out of his house at the time of the shooting 
and that, given what he saw, “one of [Corey or Nathan 
Logan’s brother, Gabriel] had to shoot the man.” Writ-
App. 1:79. Upon further describing what he saw, 
Nathan Logan tells the police that given the timing of 
when he had seen Corey running away, “it don’t make 
any sense” to say that Corey committed the shooting. 
Nathan Logan told police that based upon his obser-
vations, his brother Gabriel “had to do it” and that 
Chris Moore (“Rapist”) must have “set it up”:  
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RG:  How come Cory didn’t come and split the 
money? 

NL:  See, Cory—see, that’s what I’m saying. Cory 
ran. He ran slap off, straight away. Straight to 
his house. 

TE:  Do you see how that don’t make any 
sense if he did the shooting? 

NL:  Yes, sir. I seen— 

TE:  Who do you think did it? 

NL:  See, to me, Gabriel, he had to do it. He 
had to. 

. . .  

NL:  Rapist was outside. I know Rapist and Cory 
was together. That’s why I'm saying Rapist had 
to been set it up. 

… 

TE:  Which one do you think shot him? 

NL:  Up to now? I’m thinking Gabriel shot 
him. Now that—now that we just (inaudible) all 
together, ‘cause see, we was in the house. We just 
heard the shots. And I came out. I seen him 
running. 

TE:  You think Gabriel shot him? 

NL:  Yes, sir. 

Writ-App. 1:79, 81, 83-84 (emphasis added).  
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The prosecution never disclosed these statements. 
In fact, the summary provided to the defense at trial 
falsely reported that Nathan Logan had told the police 
that Corey committed the murder: “Nathan thought 
that Cory shot the man but he was not sure which one 
of them shot him.” Writ-App. 2:300. The prosecution 
thus suppressed evidence from a witness to the 
immediate aftermath of the shooting, who did not 
believe that Corey could have committed this crime 
based upon what he saw and whose observations 
caused him to believe that someone else (the witness’s 
own brother or the State’s eyewitness) had planned 
and committed it.  

2. Witness’s statement that he saw the 
State’s eyewitness with the murder weapon 
before the murder.  

In another suppressed statement from the night of 
the murder, Patrick Anthony, a friend of Nathan and 
Gabriel Logan, told detectives that he had seen 
Nathan Logan give Chris Moore (“Rapist”) the .25 
caliber gun that was used in the murder, before the 
shooting occurred. In the recorded interview, detec-
tives asked Mr. Anthony, “[w]hy in the world would 
Corey do the shooting and this guy Rapist show up 
with Gabriel and they split the money?” Writ-App. 
1:65. Mr. Anthony responded, that Chris Moore “had 
the gun first.” Id. When Mr. Anthony later surmised 
that Chris Moore must have given the gun to Corey, 
the detectives asked, “And how do you know this?” Id. 
Mr. Anthony explained that after the shooting, he 
helped Rapist, Gabriel, and Nathan Logan hide that 
same gun in an alley near the Logans’ house. Id. In 
doing so, he specifically recognized the .25 caliber gun 
as the same gun that Nathan Logan had given to 
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Chris Moore earlier in the night. “[Nathan] gave it to 
Rapist. I seen it when he gave it to Rapist,” Mr. 
Anthony explained. Id. 

The State never disclosed this statement, which 
was omitted from its purported summaries, and 
Patrick Anthony did not testify at trial.4 The jury thus 
never heard that, on the night of the murder, the 
State’s sole eyewitness was the last person Mr. 
Anthony saw with the murder weapon before the 
murder occurred. In addition to implicating Mr. 
Moore, the statements contradicted his express testi-
mony at trial that he had never held a gun: 

Q. Did you shoot the gun that killed the Pizza 
Hut man? 

A. No, sir. Didn’t have a gun. 

Q. You weren’t carrying a gun back then? 

A. No, sir. 

. . .  

Q. From 1995 up to the date of this event, 
did you ever have any type of . . .  gun or 
firearm in your possession? 

A. No, sir. 

R. 2592. 

                                                 
4 On postconviction, Mr. Anthony stated that that he reached out 
to state agents in advance of trial, who told him that “someone 
confessed, so [he] didn’t need to testify.” Writ-App. 1:53. At trial, 
the prosecution stated that it could not locate Mr. Anthony, 
although he was actually incarcerated at the time. Id. at 47. 
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3. Statements of witnesses who admitted to 
falsely placing the blame on Corey and that the 
older men had threatened people to change 
their stories.  

In one of the suppressed recordings, a witness 
named Derrick White initially told police that he had 
seen Corey shoot the pizza man. When the detectives 
questioned Mr. White’s account and asked if this story 
was “going to come back and bite [him] later,” Mr. 
White admitted that he had lied. Writ-App. 1:120. 
When asked whether he had “any reason to be scared 
of” the men who had implicated Corey in the murder, 
Mr. White said that the men were “bad,” “crazy,” and 
had in the past threatened to kill people. Writ-App. 
1:119, 121 (“They tell you, like, ‘I’ll kill you.’”). Two 
other witnesses similarly told the police that the 
Logans had threatened them to change their stories.5  

The State did not disclose these statements to the 
defense.  

4. Statements of investigating officers indi-
cating that, up until they obtained Corey’s 
confession, they suspected that the older men 
were trying to blame him.  

In the suppressed interviews from the night of the 
murder, the investigating officers several times 

                                                 
5 Writ-App. 1:109 (witness stating that Gabriel Logan called her 
to say, “don’t tell them I had the gun,” called other people after 
the murder “trying to tell everybody and everybody done changed 
the story,” and communicated a threat that his “boys talking 
about getting her and doing something”); Writ-App. 1:136 
(witness stating that one of the Logans called him immediately 
after the murder and repeatedly asked him to “switch [his] 
story,” but he refused). 
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expressed suspicion that Chris Moore and the Logans 
had conspired to blame Corey for the murder. For 
instance, after Patrick Anthony told police that he had 
helped Mr. Moore and the Logans hide the gun, but 
nonetheless believed Corey committed the murder, 
the police stated, “It sounds like to me y’all all decided 
y’all going to blame it on Corey. . .  That’s exactly what 
I’m getting.” Writ-App. 1:68. The police referenced a 
statement by Mr. Moore “that everybody was going to 
get together and say that Corey did the shooting.” Id. 
at 69.  

Up until the time the police obtained a confession 
from Corey, they repeated such suspicions:  

 “Now, what does not make sense to me at all 
and what may end up causing you some prob-
lems is this part about Corey.” 
 

 “You wouldn’t tell me that about Corey when 
Gabriel did it, would you?” 
 

 “Why would you want to say that [Corey did it] 
if you weren’t sure? Initially you were sure, now 
you’re not sure. Now you’re also telling us that 
you’re afraid of Gabriel and Nathan.” 
 

 “So you’re not trying to stick this gun thing on 
Corey for no reason, are you?” 

Writ-App. 1:65, 119, 120-21. None of these statements 
were disclosed.  

B. The Louisiana Courts’ Denial Of Peti-
tioner’s Brady Claim.  

Postconviction counsel argued that the prosecu-
tion’s suppression of the above witness statements 
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violated Brady and requested, at the very least, an 
evidentiary hearing to present evidence and witness 
testimony. Writ-App. 2:176, 214-15. Relying upon this 
Court’s recognition in Atkins that a person who is 
intellectually disabled carries a heightened risk of 
“unwittingly confess[ing] to a crime that he did not 
commit,” and on the post-trial judicial finding that 
Corey’s intellectual disability manifested a willing-
ness to take the blame for others’ wrongdoing, counsel 
urged the court that it must take into account the fact 
that Corey was not just a child, but an intellectually 
disabled one, at the time he confessed. Writ-App. 
2:182-84. Counsel sought to introduce studies on the 
prevalence of false confessions among intellectually 
disabled persons. Id. at 182-84, 213-14.  

The State conceded that none of these witness 
statements were provided to the defense before trial, 
despite the defense’s requests. Writ-App. 1:147. The 
State defended its decision not to produce evidence at 
trial on the basis that the prosecution may withhold 
witness statements unless it determines that the 
statements “are favorable to defendant and are 
material” to the defense. Id. (emphasis in original). 
The State argued that evidence cannot be material 
within the meaning of Brady if the State “would have 
soundly objected” to its admissibility at trial. Writ-
App. 1:152.  

With respect to every statement it had suppressed, 
the State pointed to Corey’s confession as the most 
important fact defeating materiality. E.g., Writ-App. 
1:152-53 (witness’s statement that Corey could not be 
shooter not material because confession was “over-
whelmingly indicative of [Defendant’s] guilt” and it is 
“implausible to suggest that the jury would have given 
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greater weight [to that opinion] than it did 
Defendant’s confession”); Writ-App. 1:150 (witness’s 
observation that State’s eyewitness had murder 
weapon not material because “most importantly, 
Defendant confessed to the murder”); Writ-App. 1:154 
(officers’ statements that men conspired to blame 
Corey not material because “Defendant confessed to 
committing the murder”). 

The district court held that the State’s suppression 
of the witness statements did not violate Brady. The 
court declined to take into account the post-trial 
finding that Corey is intellectually disabled in 
evaluating the weight that should be afforded to his 
confession under Brady’s materiality inquiry. At an 
oral hearing, the court refused to even consider 
studies regarding the incidence of false confessions 
among intellectually disabled persons, explaining: “I 
don’t find they’re really relevant to the issues at hand, 
particularly the Brady claims. I just don’t. I just don’t 
see how it’s relevant.” Writ-App. 2:213.  

In its written opinion, the court reviewed the 
materiality of each suppressed statement individual-
ly. According to the court, Nathan Logan’s statements 
that it “don’t make sense” to say that Corey committed 
the murder and that his brother “had to” have 
committed the shooting with Chris Moore, were not 
material because “Nathan Logan’s speculation (not 
even an opinion) as to who he ‘thought’ committed the 
murder were [sic] irrelevant and not admissible.” 
Pet.App. 11a. The court concluded that the suppres-
sed statements of police officers indicating suspicion 
that the other men had conspired to blame Corey was 
not material for the same reason: because “police 
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statements, theories, opinions or beliefs are not 
admissible evidence.” Pet.App. 12a. 

Relying heavily on Corey’s confession, the court 
concluded that this evidence would not have “changed 
the outcome of Corey Williams’ jury trial.” Id. The 
court repeated: “Corey Williams confessed to the 
murder. He admitted his guilt.” Id.  

Although the State itself conceded that the sup-
pressed statement from Mr. Anthony put the gun in 
Chris Moore’s hands “earlier in the day” and before 
the shooting (in conflict with his eyewitness testimony 
at trial), Writ-App. 1:149-50 (emphasis in original), 
the district court concluded that the statement was 
not “material or exculpatory” because the statement 
provided “no indication . . . that [Chris Moore] had the 
gun on the day of the murder.” Pet.App. 10a-11a. The 
court also speculated that “it is likely that Mr. Moore 
would have denied Mr. Anthony’s allegations” had he 
been confronted with them at trial. Id.   

The district court did not address the suppressed 
statements from witnesses who admitted to falsely 
blaming Corey and who reported threats from the 
older men until the Court of Appeal for the Second 
Circuit ordered it to do so. Pet.App. 3a. The district 
court then issued a supplemental opinion that the 
threats described in the statements were too vague 
and that Petitioner failed to demonstrate that any of 
the witnesses actually “altered their testimony in 
light of receiving the alleged threats.” Pet.App. 19a-
20a.    

In a 4-2 vote, the Supreme Court of Louisiana 
denied Petitioner’s writ application, without opinion. 
The Chief Justice and Justice Weimer would have 
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granted the writ to allow Petitioner an evidentiary 
hearing on his claim. Pet.App. 1a. 

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION 

This case satisfies all of this Court’s criteria for 
certiorari. The questions presented are squarely 
presented on this record, are the subject of a conflict 
among federal circuits and state high courts, and were 
resolved below in a manner that conflicts with this 
Court’s precedent. As set forth below, the Court’s 
review is urgently needed.  

I. The Court Should Grant Certiorari To 
Resolve Whether Inadmissible Evidence 
Can Be Material Under Brady.  

The court below twice concluded that the inadmis-
sibility of evidence was dispositive of its materiality. 
First, inadmissibility was the court’s exclusive ration-
ale for concluding it was immaterial to suppress a 
witness statement that, based on what he saw, it 
“don’t make any sense” to say that Corey committed 
the murder and that it “had to” have been the 
witness’s brother or the State’s eyewitness who did it. 
Pet.App. 11a. Second, the court concluded that the 
statements of police officers expressing suspicion that 
the State’s eyewitness and the Logans had conspired 
to blame him were inadmissible because “police 
statements, theories, opinions or beliefs are not 
admissible evidence.” Pet.App. 12a.  

The application of Brady’s materiality inquiry to 
inadmissible evidence is subject to a well-developed 
conflict in the lower courts. Dozens of courts have 
acknowledged the conflict. E.g., Dennis v. Sec’y, 
Pennsylvania Dep’t of Corr., 834 F.3d 263, 310 (3d Cir. 
2016) (en banc) (setting forth split); United States v. 
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Morales, 746 F.3d 310, 314 (7th Cir. 2014) (setting 
forth the “difference of opinion among the circuits”); 
Ellsworth v. Warden, 333 F.3d 1, 5 (1st Cir. 2003) (en 
banc) (“The circuits are split on whether a petitioner 
can have a viable Brady claim if the withheld evidence 
itself is inadmissible.”); Paradis v. Arave, 240 F.3d 
1169, 1178 (9th Cir. 2001) (“There is no uniform 
approach in the federal courts to the treatment of 
inadmissible evidence as the basis for Brady claims.”); 
Felder v. Johnson, 180 F.3d 206, 212 & n.7 (5th Cir. 
1999) (observing that “[h]ow to deal with Brady claims 
about inadmissible evidence [is] a matter of some 
confusion in federal courts,” summarizing split, and 
adhering to circuit’s unique approach).  

Innumerable commentators, including several cur-
rent and former government attorneys, have acknow-
ledged it too. E.g., Brian R. Means, POSTCONVICTION 

REMEDIES § 36:17 & nn.43-52 (2017) (setting forth 
split); Bennett L. Gershman, PROSECUTORIAL 

MISCONDUCT § 5:8 & nn.6-8 (2d ed. 2017) (same); 
Blaise Niosi, Architects of Justice: The Prosecutor’s 
Role and Resolving Whether Inadmissible Evidence Is 
Material Under the Brady Rule, 83 Fordham L. Rev. 
1499, 1502, 1520-27 (2014) (same); Federal Judicial 
Center, BENCHBOOK FOR U.S. DISTRICT JUDGES § 5.06 
n.5 (2013) (same); Abigail B. Scott, No Secrets 
Allowed: A Prosecutor’s Obligation to Disclose Inad-
missible Evidence, 61 Cath. U. L. Rev. 867, 869, 877-
78 (2012) (same); Ellen Yaroshefsky, Prosecutorial 
Disclosure Obligations, 62 Hastings L.J. 1321, 1331-
32 (2011) (same); Gregory S. Seador, A Search for the 
Truth or A Game of Strategy? The Circuit Split over 
the Prosecution’s Obligation to Disclose Inadmissible 
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Exculpatory Information to the Accused, 51 Syracuse 
L. Rev. 139, 140 (2001) (same). 

As these authorities have recognized, the conflict 
stems from competing interpretations of this Court’s 
decisions in United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 
(1985), and Wood v. Bartholomew, 516 U.S. 1 (1995). 
In Bagley, the Court explained that the materiality 
standard called for by Brady is the same as the 
prejudice inquiry for ineffective assistance claims 
under Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984): 
Whether “there is a reasonable probability that, had 
the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result 
of the proceeding would have been different.” Bagley, 
473 U.S. at 682. In Wood, the Court granted certiorari 
to address whether the failure to disclose evidence 
that is inadmissible and would not have led to 
admissible evidence could nonetheless be material if it 
may have affected the defense’s pre-trial preparation.6 
The Court did not ultimately resolve that question. In 
a per curiam opinion, the Court acknowledged that 
the polygraphs at issue “were inadmissible under 
state law,” but simply applied Bagley to hold that the 
evidence was not “‘reasonably likely’” to have affected 
the outcome. Wood, 516 U.S. at 8.  

Because the authorities above set forth the conflict 
among the lower courts in great detail, Petitioner 
provides only a brief account:  

1. A minority of lower courts have adopted the 
restrictive approach applied by the court below—i.e., 
inadmissible evidence is not material. The Fourth and 
Seventh Circuits have adopted this position. Morales, 
                                                 
6 Petition for Certiorari at i, Wood v. Bartholomew, 516 U.S. 1 
(1995) (No. 94-1419), 1995 WL 17013873 (emphasis added). 
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746 F.3d at 314 (7th Cir.) (“In a number of decisions, 
we have understood the Court to be saying that 
suppressed evidence must be more than material to 
guilt or punishment—it must actually be admissible 
in order to trigger Brady analysis.”); Hoke v. 
Netherland, 92 F.3d 1350, 1356 n.3 (4th Cir. 1996) 
(inadmissible statements are immaterial “as a matter 
of law”).7 The Texas Court of Criminal Appeals and 
Supreme Court of Louisiana have also adopted this 
position.8 

2. The First, Second, Third, Sixth, Tenth, and 
Eleventh Circuits have each held that materiality can 
encompass inadmissible evidence. These courts hold 
that suppressed evidence is material “if it would have 

                                                 
7 This minority position of the Fourth and Seventh Circuits’ is 
well acknowledged. See Dennis, 834 F.3d at 310; United States v. 
Fuller, 2015 WL 1288328, at *3 (E.D. Va. Mar. 20, 2015) (“In the 
Fourth Circuit, the Defendant must demonstrate that 
potentially exculpatory or impeaching evidence would have 
likely been admissible at trial.”). The Eighth Circuit has 
similarly held that inadmissible evidence is immaterial because 
it “is not ‘evidence’ at all,” but left open the possibility that it 
could be material if the link is based on more than “mere 
speculation.” Madsen v. Dormire, 137 F.3d 602, 604 (8th Cir. 
1998). 

8. E.g., Pena v. State, 353 S.W.3d 797, 809 (Tex. Crim. App. 2011) 
(“[W]e require that the evidence central to the Brady claim be 
admissible in court.”); Ex parte Kimes, 872 S.W.2d 700, 703 (Tex. 
Crim. App. 1993) (“A prosecutor does not have a duty to turn over 
evidence that would be inadmissible at trial.”); State v. 
Humphrey, 445 So. 2d 1155, 1158, 1164 (La. 1984) (evidence 
immaterial because it was “inadmissible at criminal trials and 
therefore could not have directly affected the jury’s verdict”); 
State v. Johnson, 333 So. 2d 223, 227 (La. 1976) (report “is 
inadmissible [and] [t]hus the report is not evidence which Brady 
refers to as ‘material’”).  
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been admissible at trial or would have led to admis-
sible evidence.” DeCologero v. United States, 802 F.3d 
155, 162 (1st Cir. 2015); Ellsworth, 333 F.3d at 5 (1st 
Cir.) (en banc); United States v. Rodriguez, 496 F.3d 
221, 226 n.4 (2d Cir. 2007); Dennis, 834 F.3d at 310 
(3d Cir.) (en banc); Barton v. Warden, 786 F.3d 450, 
465 (6th Cir. 2015); Banks v. Workman, 692 F.3d 
1133, 1142 (10th Cir. 2012); Wright v. Hopper, 169 
F.3d 695, 703 & n.1 (11th Cir. 1999). Numerous state 
high courts have adopted this rule.9  

3. The Fifth Circuit has adopted “a slightly broad-
er approach,” Scott, supra, at 877-78, which asks 
simply “whether the disclosure of the evidence would 
have created a reasonable probability that the result 
of the proceeding would have been different.” Felder, 
180 F.3d at 212 & n.7 (acknowledging the other rules 
and adhering to this more general inquiry). The courts 
of last resort of Montana, New Hampshire, and 
Virginia have similarly refused to restrict the 
materiality inquiry, holding that “[t]he focus of the 
inquiry should not be on whether the evidence is 
admissible or inadmissible, but rather whether the 
evidence . . . could have affected the outcome of the 
proceedings.” State v. Weisbarth, 378 P.3d 1195, 1201 
(Mont. 2016); State v. Laurie, 653 A.2d 549, 553-54 
(N.H. 1995); Workman v. Commonwealth, 636 S.E.2d 
                                                 
9 E.g., People v. Bueno, 409 P.3d 320, 329 n.12 (Colo. 2018) 
(“[U]ndisclosed evidence need not be admissible to satisfy Brady; 
it need merely lead to the possible discovery of other evidence.”); 
Turner v. United States, 116 A.3d 894, 918 (D.C. 2015), aff’d on 
other grounds 137 S. Ct. 1885 (2017); Stokes v. State, 402 A.2d 
376, 381 (Del. 1979); Davis v. State, 136 So. 3d 1169, 1185 (Fla. 
2014); Jones v. Medlin, 807 S.E.2d 849, 854 (Ga. 2017); People v. 
McCray, 12 N.E.3d 1079, 1082 (N.Y. 2014); State v. Mullen, 259 
P.3d 158, 167 (Wash. 2011).  
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368, 376 (Va. 2006) (adopting the Fifth Circuit’s 
approach). These courts have “decline[d] to develop a 
rule that would foreclose the development of defense 
strategy and investigation or to presuppose what 
information the defense may have developed as a 
result of properly disclosed evidence.” Weisbarth, 378 
P.3d at 1201. It is, instead, “sufficient . . . to find that 
the evidence is material to ‘the preparation or 
presentation of the defendant’s case.’” Laurie, 653 
A.2d at 553 (quoting Bagley, 473 U.S. at 683).10  

The conflict above “has substantial repercussions 
in practice.” Niosi, supra, at 1499. In particular, it 
means that prosecutors across the country have 
different understandings of their constitutional obli-
gations to disclose exculpatory evidence. Id. There is 
no basis for allowing this disparity in constitutional 
interpretation and prosecutorial practice to persist—
all sides of the argument have been aired in the 
myriad opinions and other authorities.  

The Court should take this opportunity to resolve 
it. Inadmissibility was twice the dispositive rationale 
below for rejecting the materiality of suppressed 
witness statements. Moreover, this was evidence that 
went to the heart of the guilt or innocence of this 

                                                 
10 Other circuits and state high courts have recognized conflicting 
rules within their own case law. E.g., Paradis v. Arave, 240 F.3d 
1169, 1179 (9th Cir. 2001) (observing that “our Circuit’s law on 
this issue is not entirely consistent” and citing conflicting rules); 
compare also, e.g., Commonwealth v. Johnson, 174 A.3d 1050, 
1056 (Pa. 2017) (“The substantive admissibility of impeachment 
evidence, vel non, is not dispositive of a Brady claim.”) with 
Commonwealth v. Lambert, 884 A.2d 848, 857 (Pa. 2005) 
(“[I]nadmissible evidence cannot be the basis for a Brady 
violation.”). 
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intellectually disabled 16-year-old child—including a 
witness’s statement that based on what he saw, it 
“don’t make any sense” to conclude that Corey com-
mitted this crime. Even if the recorded statements 
themselves would have been inadmissible, they would 
have led any competent defense counsel to investigate 
why Nathan Logan concluded on the night of the 
murder his brother and Chris Moore “had to” have set 
up and committed this crime, and that Corey could not 
have. Moreover, any competent counsel would have 
gotten the statements in front of the jury in a number 
of ways. It would have been used to impeach Nathan 
Logan himself, who testified for the State at trial and, 
without mentioning his opinion, claimed that he 
retrieved the murder weapon from Corey’s house on 
the night of the murder to hide it, see supra at 9 n.3. 
It also would have been used to impeach the lead 
investigators (who also testified at trial) regarding 
their creation of the police summaries that falsely 
recounted, “Nathan thought that Cory shot the man.” 
Writ-App. 2:300. The State’s suppression thus 
prevented the jury from hearing a night-of-the-
murder statement that Corey could not have 
committed the crime, that others (including the 
State’s sole eyewitness) did commit it, and that the 
lead investigators misreported statement as impli-
cating Corey. The latter could have further been used 
(with the several suppressed statements of the officers 
themselves) “to throw the reliability of the investi-
gation into doubt and to sully the credibility of” the 
investigation. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 447.  

Failure to resolve this question now would only 
compound the problem, leading to unnecessary liti-
gation as to whether the decision below was an 
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unreasonable application of this Court’s precedent 
under AEDPA—a question that has only further 
divided the circuits. Compare Breedlove v. Moore, 279 
F.3d 952, 964 (11th Cir. 2002) (treating admissibility 
as dispositive is not unreasonable under AEDPA) with 
Dennis, 834 F.3d at 310 (conclusion that evidence 
must be admissible under Brady is unreasonable 
under AEDPA).  

The Court should grant certiorari and resolve this 
acknowledged conflict.  

II. The Court Should Resolve Whether, In 
Evaluating The Materiality Of Suppressed 
Evidence Against A Confession, Courts 
Should Take Into Account A Post-Trial 
Judicial Finding That The Defendant Is 
Intellectually Disabled.    

As described above, with respect to every 
statement it suppressed, the State argued that 
Corey’s confession was “overwhelmingly indicative of 
[his] guilt.” Writ-App. 1:152-53; id. at 1:150, 154. Post-
conviction counsel urged the district court that its 
materiality analysis must take into account the 
judicial determination that Corey was an intellec-
tually disabled child. As set forth above, that deter-
mination included findings that Corey had an IQ 
between 65 and 69; drooled, ate dirt, paper, and lead 
chips; suffered from one of the most extreme cases of 
lead poisoning; and urinated himself into his teenage 
years. See supra at 10. It included specific findings 
that Corey had a history of, and was known within the 
community, to be a “duck,” “chump” and “puppet” that 
would take the blame for others. Id. However, the 
court below refused to consider the prevalence of false 
confessions by intellectually disabled persons, finding 
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that it was not “really relevant to the issues at hand, 
particularly the Brady claims.” In rejecting the 
materiality of suppressed statements, the court 
repeated: “Corey Williams confessed to the murder. 
He admitted his guilt.” Pet.App. 12a.  

The failure of the court below to consider the post-
trial adjudication of Petitioner’s intellectual disability 
flatly contradicts this Court’s precedent. This Court 
has said that “[t]he proper standard of materiality 
must reflect our overriding concern with the justice of 
the finding of guilt.” Agurs, 427 U.S. at 112; Kyles, 514 
U.S. at 435 (evidence is material if it “could 
reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a 
different light as to undermine confidence in the 
verdict”). “It necessarily follows,” the Court has said, 
that the materiality of suppressed evidence “must be 
evaluated in the context of the entire record.” Agurs, 
427 U.S. at 112. Applying these standards, this Court 
has relied upon post-trial events in assessing 
materiality under Brady. See Kyles, 514 U.S. at 448 
(admissions by prosecutor and detective elicited post-
trial “confirmed” materiality); Wood, 516 U.S. at 8 
(results of cross-examination on postconviction using 
withheld evidence “the best possible proof” of lack of 
materiality). 

The general question of whether courts should 
consider facts discovered post-trial under Brady is the 
subject of a conflict among the circuits and state high 
courts. Two circuits and the Supreme Court of 
Delaware hold that such facts are not relevant, 
reasoning that “[n]ew, non-Brady, evidence . . . is not 
enlightening as to the probability that a petitioner 
would have—at trial—been acquitted based on the 
evidence that was presented to the jury and on the 
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evidence that was withheld from the defense, which is 
the Brady inquiry.” Apanovitch v. Bobby, 648 F.3d 
434, 437-38 (6th Cir. 2011) (refusing to consider post-
trial DNA evidence because it was “not relevant” to 
the defendant’s Brady claims); Turner v. United 
States, 116 A.3d 894, 917 (D.C. 2015) (post-trial 
evidence has “no bearing on the question of the 
materiality” because Brady does not allow consider-
ation of whether “evidence not kept from the defen-
dant might lead to a different result”); Wright v. State, 
91 A.3d 972, 990 n.61 (Del. 2014) (post-trial 
recantation by witness “is not part of th[e] Brady 
analysis” because it was not “available at trial or 
suppressed by the State”).  

In conflict, two circuits and the Supreme Court of 
Missouri hold that under Brady’s materiality analy-
sis, “courts should consider the effect of all of the 
suppressed evidence along with the totality of the 
other evidence uncovered following the prior trial.” 
State ex rel. Woodworth v. Denney, 396 S.W.3d 330 
(Mo. 2013) (emphasis added); see also State ex rel. 
Griffin v. Denney, 347 S.W.3d 73, 77 (Mo. 2011) 
(“When reviewing a habeas petition premised on an 
alleged Brady violation, this Court considers all 
available evidence uncovered following the trial.”); 
Leka v. Portuondo, 257 F.3d 89, 97 (2d Cir. 2001) 
(holding that the court’s “evaluation of materiality 
considers,” among other things, “ the recantations 
made by [the prosecution’s] eyewitnesses” following 
trial); Williams v. Ryan, 623 F.3d 1258, 1265-66, 1276, 
1279 (9th Cir. 2010) (relying upon post-trial decla-
rations and rejecting dissent’s view that “information 
that comes to light years after trial and sentencing 
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cannot alter the materiality of potential Brady 
information”). 

This conflict was previously raised in the certiorari 
petition filed in Turner v. United States, No. 15-1503. 
The Court granted certiorari in that case and, upon 
consolidating it with Overton v. United States, No. 15-
1504, adopted the Overton petitioner’s more general 
question of “[w]hether the petitioners’ convictions 
should be set aside under Brady.”11 The Court 
ultimately held the evidence at issue immaterial 
without resolving the conflict above. See Turner v. 
United States,137 S. Ct. 1885, 1894-95 (2017).  

Three features of this case make it an especially 
important opportunity to intervene. First, it presents 
an unusually clean record for the Court to resolve the 
conflict. The post-trial fact in this case is not some 
evidence discovered following trial, whose credibility 
might be questioned. It was a judicial determination. 
The fact of Petitioner’s intellectual disability is final 
and undisputed.  

Second, this Court has already recognized the 
significance of this particular fact: that the risk of 
false confession is heightened in the case of 
intellectually disabled persons. Hall, 134 S. Ct. at 
1988 (recognizing that intellectually disabled people 
are “more likely to give false confessions”); Atkins, 536 
U.S. at 320 (recognizing “enhance[d]” risk of false 
confessions).   

Third, the determination of intellectual disability 
has special significance in the split above that causes 

                                                 
11 https://www.supremecourt.gov/search.aspx?filename=/ 
docket/docketfiles/html/public/15-1503.html. 
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a pointed conflict with the decision below. At least one 
circuit that holds post-trial facts may not, as a general 
matter, be considered has made an exception in the 
case of a post-trial finding that the defendant is 
intellectually disabled. As set forth above, the Sixth 
Circuit has been clear that “[n]ew, non-Brady, 
evidence . . . is not enlightening” to materiality. 
Apanovitch, 648 F.3d at 437. However, in cases on all 
fours with this one—involving a state’s failure to turn 
over witness statements, a state’s reliance upon the 
defendant’s confession at trial, and a post-trial 
adjudication of intellectual disability—the Sixth 
Circuit has held that the defendant’s intellectual 
disability should be taken into account.  

In Gumm v. Mitchell, 775 F.3d 345, 359 (6th Cir. 
2014), the court considered whether the state’s failure 
to turn over “‘tips, interview notes and other evidence 
concerning [a] suspect’” violated Brady. Of the State’s 
evidence at trial, “most importantly, the state relied 
on Petitioner’s own confession to the murder,” which 
was “‘strong evidence of [his] guilt.’” Id. at 371. On 
postconviction, the defendant “was found to be 
[intellectually disabled] by the Ohio state courts.” Id. 
at 372; see also id. at 358. Relying upon the 
postconviction findings as to the defendant’s 
intellectual disability, on this Court’s precedent 
recognizing “the heightened possibility of false 
confessions from [intellectually disabled] individuals,” 
and on the very studies that the court below in this 
case rejected as irrelevant, the Sixth Circuit 
concluded that the defendant’s confession was “far 
from overwhelming evidence of his guilt.” Id. at 371-
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73.12 The Sixth Circuit again held that the sig-
nificance of a confession should be discounted by a 
post-trial adjudication of intellectual disability in its 
Brady materiality analysis in Bies v. Sheldon, 775 
F.3d 386, 388-89, 394, 402 (6th Cir. 2014) (relying 
upon post-trial finding of intellectual disability, this 
Court’s precedent, and studies rejected by the court 
here to hold that suppressed evidence was material 
notwithstanding defendant’s confession).   

The Court should intervene to resolve this square 
conflict and the broader conflict above.  

III. This Court Must Correct The Pretrial 
Conviction Of Defendants By Louisiana 
Prosecutors.  

Petitioner urges this Court to grant certiorari in 
this case because it presents a critical opportunity to 
correct an interpretation of Brady by Louisiana 
prosecutors that threatens the basic notion that guilt 
should be decided in a courtroom, not by the 
prosecution itself, and creates an unacceptable risk 
that convictions will be obtained upon false confes-
sions—a risk most salient in the case of children and 
intellectually disabled persons.  

Throughout these proceedings, Louisiana prosecu-
tors have taken the position that, under this Court’s 
precedent, it is perfectly permissible to withhold 
favorable witness statements based upon their own 
pretrial determination that the omitted statements 
                                                 
12 Further demonstrating the split described in Section I, the 
court in Gumm held that the state court not only erred, but was 
unreasonable under AEDPA to conclude that evidence was 
immaterial simply because it was inadmissible. 775 F.3d at 359, 
368-69.  
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would not change the result at trial. Writ-App. 1:147 
(“The State concedes the aforementioned witness 
statements were not tendered to defense counsel 
during discovery. However, as the Court is aware, 
statements made by witnesses are generally not 
discoverable unless they are favorable to the 
defendant and are material.” (emphasis in original)); 
Writ-App. 2:399 (arguing that Brady requires the 
State “only to disclose evidence favorable to the 
accused that, if suppressed, would deprive him of a 
fair trial”).  

The last time Louisiana prosecutors advanced this 
interpretation of Brady before this Court several 
Justices expressed substantial concern. In Smith v. 
Cain, the State similarly suppressed a witness state-
ment from the night of the murder, which indicated 
that its sole eyewitness had initially been unable to 
identify any perpetrator. 565 U.S. 73, 74-75 (2012). At 
oral argument, the State took the same position it has 
asserted throughout these proceedings: that favorable 
statements of witnesses need only be disclosed “if the 
prosecutor makes a determination that they would 
materially affect the outcome.”13 Several Justices of 
this Court expressed the dismay at that proposition, 
including:   

 “Of course it should have been turned over. . . 
surely it should have been turned over.”14 

                                                 
13 Transcript of Oral Argument at 37-38, Smith v. Cain, 565 U.S. 
73 (2012) (No. 10-8145); see also id. at 29 (arguing that “favorable 
evidence which is not material need not be turned over to the 
defense”).  

14 Id. at 51-52 (Scalia, J.).  
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 “You don’t determine your Brady obligation by 
the test for whether there’s a Brady violation. 
You’re transposing two very different things.”15 

 “It is disconcerting to me that when I asked you 
the question directly should this material have 
been turned over, you gave an absolute no.”16 

 “[D]id your office ever consider confessing error 
in this case?”17 

In an 8-1 decision, this Court held that the 
“undisclosed statements were plainly material,” 565 
U.S. at 76, without addressing the prosecution’s 
position that it was entitled to withhold evidence on 
its pretrial belief that the evidence would not 
ultimately lead to acquittal.  

The record in this case epitomizes the dangers of 
allowing prosecutors to continue to suppress 
exculpatory evidence based upon their pretrial 
assessment of what would be “material” to the 
defense. With a confession in hand, the prosecution 
has maintained throughout these proceedings that it 
was permitted to provide the defense with state-
created summaries of witness statements omitting 
plainly exculpatory evidence, including observations 
that the defendant could not have committed the 
murder and opinions that other individuals 
committed it, including the State’s sole eyewitness 

                                                 
15 Id. at 48-49 (Kennedy, J.).  

16 Id. at 52 (Sotomayor, J.).  

17 Id. at 50 (Kagan, J.); see also id. at 29-32 (Roberts, C.J. and 
Scalia, Kennedy, and Ginsburg, JJ.); id. at 37-38 (Alito, J.); id. at 
42 (Breyer, J.); id. at 43-45 (multiple Justices expressing surprise 
that the State did not concede Brady violation). 
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who professed his complete innocence at trial. That 
understanding of Brady creates an untenable risk 
that people will be convicted based upon false 
confessions. That risk is at its highest in the case of 
an intellectually disabled person or a child. Corey was 
both.  

IV. In The Alternative, The Court Should 
Summarily Reverse.  

In the alternative to granting plenary review on 
the questions presented, the Court should summarily 
reverse. The evidence suppressed by the State in this 
case went even beyond what a substantial majority of 
this Court found “plainly material” in Smith. As set 
forth above, Smith concerned the suppression of an 
inconsistent statement made by the state’s sole 
eyewitness at trial. The evidence here did not only 
include a witness statement that directly contradicted 
the sole eyewitness’s testimony that he was an 
innocent bystander who had never held a gun (by 
placing the murder weapon in his hands before the 
murder). It also included witness statements from the 
night of the murder indicating that Corey could not 
have committed the offense; that witnesses were 
threatened to change their stories; and that, until 
obtaining the confession, the police themselves 
suspected Corey was being set up to take the fall.  

Summary reversal is also warranted because the 
court below also misapplied this Court’s standard in 
several ways. First, the court analyzed each of the 
concededly exculpatory suppressed statements 
individually, violating this Court’s directive that 
suppressed evidence be “considered collectively, not 
item by item.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 436.  



36 

 

Second, at critical junctures of its decision, the 
court misstated the legal standard for materiality. For 
instance, it held that suppressed statements of the 
police officers “does not constitute material evidence 
that if disclosed would have changed the outcome of 
Corey William’s jury trial.” Pet.App. 12a (emphasis 
added). That contravenes this Court’s directive that 
“[t]he question is not whether the defendant would 
more likely than not have received a different verdict 
with the evidence, but whether in its absence he 
received a fair trial.” Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434. 

Finally, the analysis below depended, in part, upon 
speculation that had the State’s eyewitness been 
confronted with evidence placing the murder weapon 
in his hands, “it is likely that [he] would have denied 
[the] allegations as untrue.” Pet.App. 11a. That 
directly contravenes this Court’s direction in Smith 
that, in evaluating materiality of an eyewitness’s 
inconsistent statement, it is not the court’s role to 
“speculate about which of [a witness’s] contradictory 
declarations the jury would have believed.” 565 U.S. 
at 77. It is insufficient when the State “offers a reason 
that the jury could have disbelieved [an eyewitness’s] 
undisclosed statements, but gives us no confidence 
that it would have done.” Id. (emphasis in original).  
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CONCLUSION 

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be grant-
ed.  
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